STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Beaufort County  
Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

---

RECEIVED

FEB 06 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TREVIN MILLIDGE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000281

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

TIMOTHY J. VITOLLO

Vitollo Law Firm, LLC  
PO Box 42282  
North Charleston, SC 29423  
(843) 225-3800

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial court err in denying the motion of Trevin Millidge to suppress the evidence obtained by the search warrant which was supported by an affidavit that failed to provide information sufficient to assess the veracity, reliability or basis of knowledge of the confidential informant?

II. Did the trial court err in denying the motion of Trevin Millidge to suppress the alleged confession when the alleged confession was fruit of the poisonous tree obtained as a result of the defective search warrant, and when Trevin Millidge was not advised of his rights to remain silent and to an attorney, under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the United States Constitution?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 28, 2011, a search warrant was issued, authorizing a search of premises located at 6 Miranda Circle, Port Royal, South Carolina, for evidence of criminal conduct by Trevin Millidge. R. pp. 426-427. After the execution of the search warrant, Trevin Millidge was ultimately indicted for (1) trafficking in cocaine base or crack cocaine, 10 grams to 28 grams, (2) possession with intent to distribute cocaine, or powder cocaine, (3) possession with intent to distribute Alprazolam, a Schedule IV controlled substance, (4) possession of oxycodone, a Schedule II controlled substance, and (5) possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. pp. 388-391. Trevin Millidge was tried in the Beaufort County Court of General Sessions, beginning on January 26, 2015 and ending on January 28, 2015, with the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen as the presiding judge. R. p. 1. After a jury trial, Trevin Millidge was convicted of (1) trafficking in cocaine base or crack cocaine, 10 grams to 28 grams, (2) possession with intent to distribute cocaine, or powder cocaine, (3) simple possession of Alprazolam, and (4) possession of a controlled substance, Oxycodone, a Schedule II controlled substance. R. pp. 412-413. Trevin Millidge appeals, and the notice of appeal was filed on February 3, 2015.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 28, 2011, law enforcement officer Justyna Lindahl executed a search warrant affidavit. R. pp. 428, 430-433. The search warrant affidavit relies heavily on information obtained from a confidential informant. *Id.* The affidavit references the informant as a “Reliable and Confidential Informant,” but does not provide any information regarding the past experience of the informant in regards to other investigations, the length of time in which the informant has assisted law enforcement, or the types of information obtained from the informant in regards to other investigations. *Id.* A search warrant was granted by the presiding magistrate judge that same day. *Id.*

On July 30, 2015, at approximately 5:00 a.m., law enforcement arrived at the address of the subject property to execute the search warrant. R. p. 214, lines 13-16. Shortly after law enforcement arrived, Trevin Millidge was put in handcuffs and placed in a patrol vehicle with Sergeant Walker Michaud. R. p. 214-215. Sergeant Michaud interviewed Trevin Millidge while Mr. Millidge was in handcuffs, R. p. 217, lines 1-3, and the interview took place at or after the time that law enforcement began executing the search warrant, R. p. 215, line 24 to R. p. 215, line 2. Counsel for Trevin Millidge moved to suppress the alleged confession of Trevin Millidge, and a pretrial hearing was held regarding the admissibility of the alleged confession. R. pp. 24-33. At the *Jackson v. Denno*<sup>1</sup> hearing and during the State’s case in chief, Sergeant Walker Michaud testified that Trevin Millidge was advised of his right to remain silent and his right to an attorney. R. p. 27, lines 19-23; R. p. 218, lines 4-15. Trevin Millidge, through his attorney, denied ever being advised of

---

<sup>1</sup> See *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 394 (1964) (requiring that for purposes of a jury trial the initial hearing to determine the voluntariness of a confession must be held outside the presence of the jury).

his rights under *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), and denied making any confession. R. p. 349, lines 4-8.

Sergeant Walker Michaud failed to obtain a written or audio-recorded waiver of *Miranda* rights by Trevin Millidge. R. p. 238, lines 2-7; R. p. 220, lines 6-19. Sergeant Walker Michaud confirmed in his testimony at trial that after the search concluded there was nothing that prevented him from taking Mr. Millidge to the detective office, R. p. 235, lines 24 to R. p. 236, line 1, where there was recording equipment; he confirmed that the Sheriff's Office has multiple interview rooms with video and audio recording equipment, R. p. 236, line 24 to R. p. 237, line 3; that the interview room contained written *Miranda* forms used to obtain a written acknowledgement of a waiver of *Miranda* rights, R. p. 237, lines 4-14; that Mr. Michaud had a notepad and pen on him that could have been used to obtain a written confirmation of waiver, R. p. 237, line 24 to R. p. 238, line 7; and that there was a video recorder on-scene that could have been used to film the interview of Mr. Millidge, R. p. 240, lines 1-12.

Counsel for Trevin Millidge moved to suppress the search warrant at a pretrial hearing, R. p. 33, and moved to suppress the alleged confession at a pretrial hearing, R. p. 24. Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict at the close of the state's case. R. p. 294, lines 2-4. After the defense rested, defense counsel renewed all motions, pretrial motions, objections and grounds for a directed verdict. R. p. 296, lines 8-10. After the jury handed down its verdict, defense counsel again renewed all motions, post-trial motions for a new trial, motions for a directed verdict, motions to suppress, and moved for a new trial. R. p. 419, lines 17-24.

## ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in denying the motion of Trevin Millidge to suppress the evidence obtained by the search warrant which was supported by an affidavit that failed to provide information sufficient to assess the veracity, reliability or basis of knowledge of the confidential informant.

The United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution prohibit “unreasonable searches and seizures.” *U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, Sec. 10.* South Carolina requires a search warrant to be issued “only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record establishing the grounds for the warrant.” *S.C. Code Sec. 17-13-140* (2014). The issuance of a search warrant requires a finding of probable cause, and the reviewing court must ensure that the issuing judge had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 50; 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006).

Probable cause to issue a warrant exists “if, given the totality of the circumstances set forth in the affidavit, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place.” *State v. Kinloch*, 410 S.C. 612, 617; 767 S.E.2d 153, 155 (2014). Under the totality of the circumstances test, “the task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common sense decision whether, given the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, *including the ‘veracity’ and ‘basis of knowledge’ of persons supplying hearsay information*, there is a fair probability that [evidence] will be found in a particular place.” *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983). The reviewing court must “ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed.” *Id.* at 238-239 (internal citation omitted).

In *State v. Johnson*, 302 S.C. 243; 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990), the Court held that, by itself, an affidavit stating that a confidential informant had seen a quantity of cocaine in the defendant's home within seventy-two (72) hours of the request for a warrant, was not sufficient to establish probable cause. 302 S.C. 243, 248; 395 S.E.2d 167, 169. A primary reason for the Court's holding was that the warrant did not "set forth any information as to the reliability of the informant." *Id.* The Court cited the concern of the United States Supreme Court that the issuance of a search warrant without information concerning the reliability of a confidential informant may result in "the inferences from the facts which lead to the complaint" being drawn "by a police officer 'engaged in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime,' or [. . .] by an unidentified informant," instead of "a neutral and detached magistrate' as the Constitution requires." *Id.* (citing *Aguilar v. Texas*, 378 U.S. 108, 115 (1964) (modified by *Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213 (1983))).

At the pretrial hearing, counsel for Trevin Millidge moved to suppress the evidence obtained pursuant to the search warrant because the affidavit supporting the warrant failed to establish probable cause. Apart from inferences based on the prior record of Mr. Millidge and the affiant's expertise and prior experiences, the affidavit supporting the warrant relies almost exclusively on information obtained through the confidential informant. Although the affidavit references the informant as a "Reliable and Confidential Informant," the affidavit does not contain sufficient information to establish a substantial basis for a magistrate to determine the veracity or reliability of the informant. The affidavit does not provide any information relating to the past experience of the informant in regards to other investigations, the length of time in which the informant has assisted law enforcement, or the types of information obtained from the informant in regards to other investigations.

2. The trial court erred in denying the motion of Trevin Millidge to suppress the alleged confession when the alleged confession was fruit of the poisonous tree obtained as a result of a defective search warrant, and when Trevin Millidge was not advised of his rights to remain silent and to an attorney, under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

2(a). Fruit of the Poisonous Tree

Evidence of a crime “must be excluded if it would not have come to light but for the illegal actions of the police, and the evidence has been obtained by the exploitation of that illegality.” *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 323; 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). This rule, excluding evidence obtained by illegal police activity, has become known as the “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine. *Id.* (referencing *Wong Sun v. United States*, 371 U.S. 471 (1963)).

The officer who interviewed Trevin Millidge and obtained the alleged confession appeared at the address of the property as part of the team executing the search warrant, and would not have made contact with Mr. Millidge if the search warrant had not been issued. Law enforcement was carrying out the search contemporaneously with the interview of Trevin Millidge, and the interviewing officer’s communication with Mr. Millidge would not have occurred but for the erroneously issued search warrant.

2(b). Right to Remain Silent and Right to Counsel

The confession of a defendant made during a custodial interrogation is not admissible unless it is voluntarily given after the defendant has been advised of his right against self-incrimination and his right to assistance of counsel. *See generally, Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) (citing the fifth and sixth Amendments to the United States

Constitution). These rights are now commonly referred to as “*Miranda* warnings” or “*Miranda* rights.” See, e.g., *State v. Easler*, 322 S.C. 333; 471 S.E.2d 745 (Ct. App. 1996); *State v. Peele*, 298 S.C. 63; 378 S.E.2d 254 (1989); *State v. Doby*, 273 S.C. 704; 258 S.E.2d 896 (1979).

In criminal cases, an appellate court is not bound by a trial court’s factual findings that are clearly erroneous. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41; 625 S.E.2d 216 (2006). The conclusion of a trial court in regards to facts concerning the voluntariness of a confession will not be disturbed unless there is an abuse of discretion. *State v. Rochester*, 301 S.C. 196, 200; 391 S.E.2d 244, 247 (1990). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court’s finding of fact is without evidentiary support. *State v. Jennings*, 394 S.C. 473, 477-478; 716 S.E.2d 91, 93 (2011). When reviewing a trial court’s ruling concerning voluntariness, the appellate court “determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 136; 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001).

At trial, the state conceded that Trevin Millidge was in custody at the time of the alleged confession. R. p. 217, lines 1-3. A review of the record would cast doubt on the trial court’s decision to allow the alleged confession into evidence as a voluntary statement made after the administering of *Miranda* warnings. The interviewing officer testified at trial that the interview took place while Mr. Millidge was in handcuffs at the location of the subject property while the police were carrying out the search warrant. The interviewing officer failed to obtain a written waiver of *Miranda* rights, even though the officer had a notepad and pen in his possession. The interviewing officer confirmed that after the conclusion of the search there was nothing that prevented him from taking Mr. Millidge to the detective office where there was recording equipment, or to the Sheriff’s office that had