ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-000281

RECEIVED

JAN 30 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TREVIN MILLIDGE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 255-5880

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

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

B. Applicability of the Good Faith Exception

Both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution prohibit unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. When an unreasonable search or seizure occurs, any evidence seized as the result of that unconstitutional action generally must be excluded from trial pursuant to the exclusionary rule, a judicially-created remedy designed to serve as a deterrent sanction against unconstitutional conduct. State v. Weaver, 374 S.C. 313, 319, 649 S.E.2d 479, 482 (2007); see State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 88, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012) (“The Fourth Amendment itself provides no remedy for a violation of the warrant requirement. However, the United States Supreme Court has fashioned a

judicially-created remedy, the exclusionary rule, which is a deterrent sanction by which the prosecution is barred from introducing evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment.” (citation omitted)). Importantly though, the exclusion of evidence following an unconstitutional search “is ‘not a personal constitutional right,’ nor is it designed to redress the injury occasioned by an unconstitutional search.” Davis v. United States, 564 U.S. 229, 236 (2011) (citations omitted). Due to the heavy costs exacted by the exclusion of evidence on both the judicial system and society as a whole, application of the exclusionary rule is only appropriate where the deterrent benefits of the rule outweigh the heavy costs its application would exact. Brown, 401 S.C. at 88, 736 S.E.2d at 266. As a result, judicially-created exceptions to the exclusionary rule have been established, including the good faith exception first recognized by the United States Supreme Court in its decision in United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897 (1984). Brown, 401 S.C. at 88-89, 736 S.E.2d at 266; see also State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 113, 352 S.E.2d 471, 473 (1987) (“Exclusion of evidence is not the only means available to insure that warrants are properly issued.”).

In Leon, officers received information from an informant of unknown reliability about drug activity occurring at a particular residence and initiated a narcotics investigation as a result. Id., 468 U.S. at 901. During their investigation, they observed cars registered to individuals with criminal records come to and leave from the residence and saw individuals enter the residence and leave a short time later with small paper sacks. Id. They also located a small quantity of marijuana at an airport in the belongings of two individuals connected to the targeted residence when those individuals returned from a trip to Miami. Id. at 902. Thereafter, a narcotics investigator prepared a search warrant affidavit recounting those details, obtained a search warrant, searched a variety of locations connected to Leon and his accomplices, and discovered

large quantities of cocaine and other evidence. Id. Subsequently, during trial, Leon and his accomplices sought the suppression of the evidence discovered during the searches, and the district court judge granted the suppression motion after finding the search warrant affidavit contained insufficient information to establish probable cause. Id. at 903. Following that ruling, the State appealed, and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the district court judge's decision. Id. at 904-905. The State then filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court, and the Supreme Court granted that petition to address the issue of whether the exclusionary rule should be applied to evidence "obtained by officers acting in reasonable reliance on a search warrant issued by a detached and neutral magistrate but ultimately found to be unsupported by probable cause." Id. at 900.

After considering the issue, the Supreme Court determined the exclusionary rule should only "rarely" be applied to cases where officers reasonably relied upon subsequently-invalidated search warrants. Id. at 926. Specifically, the Supreme Court concluded suppression of the evidence based on a subsequently-invalidated search warrant was only appropriate in four limited situations: (1) where the affiant misled the issuing judge by including false or misleading information in the search warrant affidavit; (2) where the issuing judge wholly abandoned his neutral and detached judicial role; (3) where the search warrant affidavit was " 'so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable[;]' " and (4) when a search warrant was so facially deficient in some technical respect the officer executing that warrant could not reasonably have presumed it to be valid. Id. at 923 (citation omitted). Thereafter, the Supreme Court reversed the district court judge's decision despite the fact the search warrant affidavit had been found to contain insufficient information to establish

probable cause after concluding “the officers’ reliance on the magistrate’s determination of probable cause was objectively reasonable” under the circumstances. Id. at 926.

Just as in Leon, even assuming the search warrant affidavit was somehow insufficient to establish a substantial basis for a finding of probable cause in Appellant’s case, the good faith exception would have nonetheless been applicable under the circumstances because the search warrant affidavit was not “ ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable’ ” and the officers’ reliance on the judicially-issued search warrant was objectively reasonable. Id. at 924; cf. United States v. Bynum, 293 F.3d 192, 195 (4th Cir. 2002) (“[I]f Agent Peterson’s affidavit does not provide a substantial basis for determining the existence of probable cause, . . . it is not ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.’ ” (citations omitted)). Specifically, the information in Investigator Lindahl’s lengthy and detailed search warrant affidavit was not “bare bones.” Instead, that multi-page affidavit contained statements establishing a confidential informant working under the direction, control, and supervision of Drug Task Force officers had recently purchased cocaine and crack cocaine from Appellant at the Miranda Circle residence on multiple occasions. Cf. Leon, 468 U.S. at 926 (finding an officer’s reliance on a search warrant was not objectively unreasonable despite the fact the search warrant affidavit did not contain sufficient information to establish probable cause where the warrant was supported by more than a “bare bones” affidavit). Moreover, before conducting any search of Appellant’s residence, Investigator Lindahl acted in an objectively-reasonable manner by obtaining a search warrant from the issuing judge that complied with all of South Carolina’s statutory warrant requirements, and the search warrant affidavit used to obtain that search warrant was subsequently found to be sufficient upon review by another judge. See

Messerschmidt v. Millender, 565 U.S. 535, ___ (2012) (“Where the alleged Fourth Amendment violation involves a search or seizure pursuant to a warrant, the fact that a neutral magistrate has issued a warrant is the clearest indication that the officers acted in an objectively reasonable manner or, as we have sometimes put it, in ‘objective good faith.’ ” (citation omitted)); see also United States v. Martin, 833 F.2d 752, 756 (8th Cir. 1987) (“When judges can look at the same affidavit and come to differing conclusions, a police officer’s reliance on that affidavit must, therefore, be reasonable.”); see generally United States v. Otero, 495 F.3d 393, 398 (7th Cir. 2007) (recognizing a defendant must rebut the presumption of good faith that arises when an officer obtains a search warrant). Under those circumstances, Investigator Lindahl and the other officers’ reliance on the search warrant was not objectively unreasonable, the officers acted in good faith in executing the search warrant, and the trial judge properly declined to suppress the evidence discovered during the search of the Miranda Circle residence. Cf. Leon, 468 U.S. at 927 (“Officer Rombach’s application for a warrant clearly was supported by much more than a ‘bare bones’ affidavit. The affidavit related the results of an extensive investigation and, as the opinions of the divided panel of the Court of Appeals make clear, provided evidence sufficient to create disagreement among thoughtful and competent judges as to the existence of probable cause. Under these circumstances, the officers’ reliance on the magistrate’s determination of probable cause was objectively reasonable, and application of the extreme sanction of exclusion is inappropriate.”).

Critically, because Investigator Lindahl and the other officers’ actions were objectively reasonable in light of the fact a judicially-issued search warrant was obtained prior to any search and because the search warrant affidavit was not so lacking in indicia of probable cause to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable, the application of the exclusionary rule in

Appellant's case would not have been warranted even if the search warrant had ultimately been defective due to some problem regarding the information contained in the accompanying affidavit. See Messerschmidt, 565 U.S. at ___ (“The question in this case is not whether the magistrate erred in believing there was sufficient probable cause to support the scope of the warrant he issued. It is instead whether the magistrate so obviously erred that any reasonable officer would have recognized the error. The occasions on which this standard will be met may be rare, but so too are the circumstances in which it will be appropriate to impose personal liability on a lay officer in the face of judicial approval of his actions. **Even if the warrant in this case were invalid, it was not so obviously lacking in probable cause that the officers can be considered ‘plainly incompetent’ for concluding otherwise.**” (emphasis added and citation omitted)); State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 293, 494 S.E.2d 801, 804 (1997) (“Johnson should not be read as prohibiting the application of the good-faith exception every time an affidavit fails to satisfy the technical requirements of Gates. Suppression is appropriate in only a few situations, including when an affidavit is ‘so lacking in indicia of probable cause as to render official belief in its existence entirely unreasonable.’ ” (citation omitted)); see also Herring v. United States, 555 U.S. 135, 147-148 (2009) (“In light of our repeated holdings that the deterrent effect of suppression must be substantial and outweigh any harm to the justice system, . . . we conclude that when police mistakes are the result of negligence such as that described here, rather than systemic error or reckless disregard of constitutional requirements, any marginal deterrence does not ‘pay its way.’ In such a case, the criminal should not ‘go free because the constable has blundered.’ ” (citations omitted)). As a result, even assuming both the judge who issued the search warrant and the trial judge erred in concluding the search warrant affidavit provided a substantial basis for a finding of probable cause, Appellant's suppression motion was

nonetheless properly denied and the incriminating evidence discovered during and after the search of the Miranda Street residence was properly admitted during trial. See Leon, 468 U.S. at 918-921 (“[S]uppression of evidence obtained pursuant to a warrant should be ordered only on a case-by-case basis and only in those unusual cases in which exclusion will further the purposes of the exclusionary rule. . . . Penalizing the officer for the [issuing judge]’s error, rather than his own, cannot logically contribute to the deterrence of Fourth Amendment violations.”); cf. United States v. Corral-Corral, 899 F.2d 927, 939 (10th Cir. 1990) (“Just as reviewing courts give ‘great deference’ to the decisions of judicial officers who make probable-cause determinations, police officers should be entitled to rely upon the probable-cause determination of a neutral magistrate when defending an attack on their good faith for either seeking or executing a warrant. This is particularly true, where, as here, with the benefit of hindsight and thoughtful reflection, reviewing judges still cannot agree on the sufficiency of the affidavit.”). Appellant’s convictions should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge committed no error in admitting into evidence the incriminating statement Appellant made after the search warrant was executed at his home because that statement was not the product of an unlawful search and was freely and voluntarily made after Appellant was informed of and validly waived his constitutional rights with a full understanding of those rights.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by allowing his incriminating statement to be admitted into evidence. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains his incriminating statement should have been excluded as the product of an unlawful search. Appellant further appears to maintain he was not informed of his constitutional rights before making his incriminating statement while asserting the trial judge's decision to admit that statement was questionable in light of the testimony establishing the interview was not recorded and no written waiver was obtained. To the extent Appellant is arguing his incriminating statement was the product of an unlawful search, the search of his home was not unlawful for all the previously-articulated reasons and, thus, could not serve as a basis for the exclusion of the statement. Likewise, to the extent Appellant is challenging the trial judge's determination he freely and voluntarily made a statement after being informed of and waiving his constitutional rights, the evidence and testimony presented during trial established Appellant was informed of his rights, understood those rights, waived those rights by making a statement, and was not coerced or threatened into making an involuntary statement. As a result, Appellant's statement was fully admissible during trial, and the trial judge's decision to admit the statement was proper and supported by the evidence. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In appeals involving a challenge to an evidentiary ruling, an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on such a matter absent a clear abuse of discretion resulting in

prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625, 703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.”); State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995) (“A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.”). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). Likewise, “[w]hen reviewing a trial court’s ruling concerning voluntariness [of a statement], [the appellate court] does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by **any evidence**.” State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001) (emphasis added). Importantly, “[t]he trial judge’s determination of the voluntariness [of a statement] will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law.” State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 43, 503 S.E.2d 747, 751 (1998).

ANALYSIS

“[T]he prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination.” Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966). Prior to custodial interrogation, a suspect must be warned he has a right to remain silent, any of his statements may be used against him, he has a right to an attorney, and an attorney will be appointed to him prior to any questioning if he desires one and cannot afford one. Id. at 479. Once those warnings are given to a suspect and the suspect is

afforded an opportunity to exercise his rights, the suspect may knowingly and intelligently waive those rights and make a statement. Id.

Significantly, if a defendant is advised of his constitutional rights and then chooses to make a statement, the burden is on the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence the defendant knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived his rights. State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990); see Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 384 (2010) (instructing the prosecution must establish the accused understood his rights in order for the accused's waiver of those rights to be valid). In determining whether a valid waiver of rights occurred, the particular facts and circumstances surrounding the case must be examined, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused. North Carolina v. Butler, 441 U.S. 369, 374-375 (1979). Importantly, a valid waiver of rights can be established through proof of express written or oral statements or can be inferred from the actions and words of the person interrogated. Id. at 373; see Berghuis, 560 U.S. at 384 (“An ‘implicit waiver’ of the ‘right to remain silent’ is sufficient to admit a suspect’s statement into evidence.” (citation omitted)); State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998) (“An express waiver is unnecessary to support a finding that the defendant has waived the right to remain silent or the right to counsel guaranteed by Miranda.”).

However, even if a defendant validly waives his rights and makes a statement, a confession or statement by a defendant is nonetheless not admissible unless voluntarily made. State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). The reason for the prohibition against the use of an involuntary confession is that “coerced confessions” have been recognized to be “inherently untrustworthy.” Dickerson v. United States, 530 U.S. 428, 433 (2000); see also Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 385-386 (1964) (“[T]he Fourteenth Amendment forbids the use

of involuntary confessions not only because of the probable unreliability of confessions that are obtained in a manner deemed coercive, but also because of the ‘strongly felt attitude of our society that important human values are sacrificed where an agency of the government, in the course of securing a conviction, wrings a confession out of an accused against his will,’ and because of ‘the deep-rooted feeling that the police must obey the law while enforcing the law; that in the end life and liberty can be as much endangered from illegal methods used to convict those thought to be criminals as from the actual criminals themselves.’ ” (citations omitted)).

Importantly, “[t]he process for ascertaining whether a statement is voluntary is bifurcated because the process involves determinations by both the trial judge and the jury.” State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008). Pursuant to the bifurcated process, the trial judge must first determine in an evidentiary hearing whether the State proved the statement was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence and then, if the trial judge finds the State met its burden, the statement is submitted to the jury where its voluntariness must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. When considering the voluntariness and admissibility of a defendant’s statements, the trial judge should examine the totality of the circumstances under which the statements were made, including the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation, to determine whether the State has met its burden of proof. State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 461, 272 S.E.2d 634, 635 (1980). Factors to be considered in the totality of the circumstances analysis include: (1) the age of the accused; (2) the educational level and intelligence of the accused; (3) the accused’s knowledge of his constitutional rights; (4) the length of the accused’s detention; (5) the nature of the questioning and whether it was repeated and prolonged; and (6) the presence or absence of the use of punishment, including deprivation of food or sleep. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218,

226 (1973). Ultimately though, the “ultimate test” of voluntariness involves determining whether the confession was “the product of an essentially free and unconstrained choice by its maker” or was the product of an overborne will and critically-impaired capacity for self-determination. Id. at 225-226; see State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996) (“The question is whether the defendant’s will was overborne when he confessed.”); see also Miller v. Fenton, 796 F.2d 598, 604 (3rd Cir. 1986) (“We emphasize that the test for voluntariness is not a but-for test: we do not ask whether the confession would have been made in the absence of the interrogation. Few criminals feel impelled to confess to the police purely of their own accord, without any questioning at all.”).

In Appellant’s case, the evidence presented during trial established Appellant was fully informed of his rights prior to trial and expressly stated he understood those rights before he made an incriminating statement that he was in no way coerced or threatened into making, and Appellant did not directly dispute or refute that evidence at any point during the trial proceedings.²³ See Berghuis, 560 U.S. at 388-389 (“[A] suspect who has received and understood Miranda warnings, and has not invoked his Miranda rights, waives the right to remain silent by making an uncoerced statement to the police.”); see also State v. Key, 256 S.C. 90, 97, 180 S.E.2d 888, 891 (1971) (“[U]ndisputed testimony is more conclusive than testimony

² Specifically, during the in camera hearing, Sergeant Michaud testified Appellant “was asked if he understood his rights, and he stated he did.” (R. p. 29).

³ Notably, notwithstanding the fact the undisputed evidence presented during trial established Appellant was informed of his constitutional rights before making a statement, Appellant’s apparent appellate contention he was not advised of his rights to remain silent and have an attorney present is wholly unpreserved for appellate review and cannot properly be considered or addressed on appeal because defense counsel never raised such a contention to the trial judge and, instead, simply contended no showing was made Appellant waived his rights. See State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (instructing a party cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue on appeal); State v. Thomason, 355 S.C. 278, 288, 584 S.E.2d 143, 148 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal.”); State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 380, 580 S.E.2d 785, 795 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] defendant may not argue one ground below and another on appeal.”); see also State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”).

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